NO. 47339-9-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DEREK MARK LOUGHREY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Suzan Clark, Judge

SECOND CORRECTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LISA E. TABBUT
Attorney for Appellant
P. O. Box 1319
Winthrop, WA 98862
(509) 996-3959

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of 35-year old allegations of sex abuse between Mr. Loughrey and his half-sister when he was a juvenile.

2. Mr. Loughrey did not open the door to testimony of 35-year old sex abuse allegations by testifying he was not a child molester in response to questions about the specific allegation against N.L.

3. The trial court failed to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by CrR 3.5.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A party does not “open the door” to otherwise inadmissible evidence by making a passing reference to a subject that does not create a false impression. Furthermore, even if a party “opens the door,” a court must evaluate whether admitting the opposing party’s evidence on the topic would violate ER 403. The trial court found Mr. Loughrey “opened the door” to such evidence by stating he was “not a child molester” in response to a question about whether he committed a specific sex act against his daughter. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by refusing to perform an ER 403 analysis and admitting evidence of 35-year old child abuse allegations when Mr. Loughrey was a juvenile?

2. A trial court is required to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law after the suppression hearing as required by CrR 3.5(c). The trial court has not entered CrR 3.5 findings and conclusions. Is the trial court's failure to do so in error?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

The state charged Derek Loughrey with three counts of rape of a child in the first degree and two counts of child molestation in the first degree. CP 1-4. The state also alleged two aggravating sentencing factors as to each count: (1) Mr. Loughrey abused a position of trust to facilitate the offense and (2) the offense was an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse against the same victim under the age of eighteen. CP 1-4. The named victim of each offense was Mr. Loughrey's daughter, N.L., born February 8, 1995. RP 2A at 375.

Prior to trial, the court heard a CrR 3.5 hearing. RP 1 at 200-350. To date, no written findings of fact and conclusions of law supporting the court's oral ruling have been filed.

The jury found Mr. Loughrey guilty as charged on all the counts. CP 5, 7, 9, 11, 13. The jury also found Mr. Loughrey committed both the aggravating sentencing factors on each count. CP 6, 8, 10, 12, 14.

The court did not apply the aggravating factors to impose an exceptional sentence. CP 41-42. Instead, the court sentenced Mr. Loughrey

within the standard range. CP 43. On each count of rape of a child, the court imposed a minimum term of 318 months and a maximum term of life. CP 43. On each child molestation count, the court imposed a 198 month minimum term and a maximum term of life. CP 43. The court also imposed community custody for life. CP 43.

This appeal follows. CP 58-59.

2. Trial Evidence

Mr. Loughrey and his wife are of limited means. RP 2A at 377. They raised their three children in a two bedroom apartment in Vancouver. Id. Their daughter, N.L., shared one of the two bedrooms with her two brothers. Id. Mr. Loughrey slept in the other bedroom. Id. Mrs. Loughrey slept on the living room couch. RP 2A at 377-78.

Mr. Loughrey suffered from diverticulitis. RP 3A at 751. It is a debilitating condition that makes it necessary for him to be near a toilet at all times. RP 3A at 752. Early in the children's lives, he was able to work out of the home. But as his condition grew worse, he started a small in-home computer-based business and Mrs. Loughrey took a job outside of the home. Id.

N.L. was home-schooled until the fifth grade. RP 2A at 375. Her brothers were also home-schooled for a time. Id. at 378. Mrs. Loughrey was the home-school teacher. Id. Mr. Loughrey was still working outside of the

home for most of this time. *Id.* at 390. Mrs. Loughrey rarely left the children at home with their father. When she ran errands to the post office or the grocery store, she usually took the children with her. RP 3B at 617-18.

N.L. resented sharing a bedroom with her brothers. RP 2A at 471. As she grew older, she started to resent her parents' restrictions and rules they placed on her. She tested the boundaries and was often grounded because of it. N.L. also talked about being legally emancipated and getting her own apartment. She showed her father a pamphlet about the emancipation process. RP 3A at 737-39.

After her junior year of high school, N.L. started working at WinCo and started dating a co-worker, Alyn Cheney. RP 2A at 432, 435. Mr. and Mrs. Loughrey did not like their daughter's relationship with Alyn and told her so. Alyn helped N.L. buy a new cell phone. *Id.* at 436. Her parents did not give their permission to get the phone. RP 3A at 747. Mr. Loughrey was particularly concerned that Alyn would expect sex from N.L. in exchange for the phone. RP 2A at 436. There was a significant blow up between N.L. and her parents when they demanded she give them the phone. RP 3A at 750. N.L. refused to hand over the phone. *Id.* Within days, N.L. disclosed to her school counsellor that her father had sexually abused her years earlier. RP 2B at 517. Mr. and Mrs. Loughrey both strenuously believed N.L. made false disclosures of sexual abuse to get out of their house because N.L.

believed she would have significant freedom in foster care. RP 3A at 739-40; RP 3B at 858.

Before N.L.'s disclosure, Alyn shared with N.L. that he had been sexually abused by an older sister. RP 2A at 437. As a consequence, Alyn and his sister did not live in the same home. RP 2B at 499. After Alyn's sharing, N.L. texted Alyn late one evening that her father did sexual things to her when she was younger. RP 2A at 437.

After disclosing the alleged sexual abuse to her school counsellor, N.L. made a report to the police. RP 2A at 442. Because N.L. was late returning home from school that day and her parents did not know her whereabouts, they reported her to the police as a runaway. RP 2B at 586. The police went to the Loughreys' apartment to talk about their runaway concern. An officer told Mr. Loughrey N.L. was at the police station. The officer found it odd that Mr. Loughrey dropped his head and said "It doesn't matter why she's at the police department as long as she is safe," rather than asking why N.L. was at the station. While talking to the Loughreys, the officer told them about N.L.'s sex abuse allegations. *Id.* at 588.

At trial, N.L. said that when she was between the ages of approximately 5 to 9 years old, her father did sexual things to her. The first thing she remembered was her dad grabbing her butt when they were watching television together. RP 2A at 379. She did not think it was an

accidental touching. Id. Her father also humped her when they wrestled. Id. at 386. One time, she could feel his erection against her. Id. at 387. He also showed her porn on his computer. Id. at 397. During a viewing, he asked her if she would like to see white stuff come out of him. Id. at 398. There were instances when he would lick her vagina and her anus. Id. at 399, 402. He would have her sit on his face. Id. at 411. He would also put his fingers in her anus and then lick his fingers. Id. at 399, 403. She thought she was about eight years old at the time. Id. at 384. They were usually home alone, behind Mr. Loughrey's closed bedroom door, when things happened. Id. at 399. But there was one instance when her bother was in the bedroom with them. They were all watching a movie. Mr. Loughrey touched N.L.'s vagina under the bed covers. Id. at 404-06. N.L. sometimes thought to tell her mother. Mr. Loughrey told her that it was their secret and if mom knew, he would go away for a long time. Id. at 413. One time he gave her a dollar in exchange for kissing his penis. Id. at 415, 417. He also whispered sexual talk although she did not recall specific statements. Id. at 417.

The occurrences stopped when she took her father one of her life-sized Barbie dolls and told him to stop doing things to her and to do things to the Barbie instead. Id. at 418.

Mr. Loughrey testified at trial. When asked on direct examination if he ever engaged in cunnilingus with N.L. he raised his voice and said, "I

am not a child molester. I did not do this. She lied. She wanted out and that was her way out. I am telling you. I am not a child molester.” RP 3A at 764.

Thereafter, the state moved to admit testimony from Amanda Smith, Mr. Loughrey’s half-sister as she had, per the prosecutor, “suffered at the hands” of Mr. Loughrey when they were children. Id. at 769; RP 4 at 954. The prosecutor argued that Mr. Loughrey opened the door to the testimony by putting his character at issue. RP 3A at 769-70.

Over Mr. Loughrey’s strenuous objection, the court allowed Ms. Smith to testify. She flew in from Kentucky. RP 4 at 952. She was born in September 1970. Id. RP 4 at 952. Mr. Loughrey was born in March 1968. RP 3A at 770. The sexual things started happening when she was in fourth or fifth grade. RP 4 at 956. Her brother would perform oral sex on her or have penile-vaginal intercourse with her. RP4 at 956. It was never consensual. Id. at 956. She asked him not to. He asked her to not tell anyone. Id. at 957. It stopped when she was in ninth grade and got her period. Id. at 958. It occurred one or two times a month. Id. at 960. She had never told anyone. N.L. told Ms. Smith about her own allegations after she left her parents’ home. Id. at 962.

At defense counsel’s request, the court gave the following limiting instruction as to Ms. Smith’s allegations.

Certain evidence has been admitted in this case for limited purposes. This evidence consists of testimony about the alleged sexual acts between the Defendant and Amanda Smith. This evidence may be considered only to rebut the Defendant's assertion that he lacks the character trait of someone who would commit the type of crimes alleged in this case. You may not consider it for any other purposes.

Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers, Court's Instructions to the Jury (sub. nom 174), Instruction 18.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF 35-YEAR OLD CHILD SEX ABUSE ALLEGATIONS FOR WHICH MR. LOUGHREY WAS NEVER CHARGED.

- a. Mr. Loughrey did not "open the door" to testimony about the 35-year old allegations.

The state argued, and the trial court ruled, that Mr. Loughrey "opened the door" to testimony regarding allegations that Mr. Loughrey had intercourse with his two-year-younger sister when he was between the approximate ages of 11 and 15 years old. Because of the court's ruling, and the anticipated testimony from his sister, Amanda Smith, Mr. Loughrey testified generally about the allegations in his direct testimony. He acknowledged consensual curious touching with his sister but denied any type of intercourse. The state questioned Mr. Loughrey about the sex abuse allegations extensively in cross-examination. The court's ruling to admit the evidence was erroneous.

A trial court's evidentiary rulings is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 810, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). A court abuses its discretion when its evidentiary ruling is “manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons.” *State v. Downing*, 151 Wn.2d 265, 272, 87 P.3d 1169 (2004) (quoting *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971)).

“Otherwise inadmissible evidence is admissible on cross-examination if the witness “opens the door during direct examination and the evidence is relevant to some issue at trial.” *State v. Stockton*, 91 Wn. App. 35, 40, 955 P.2d 805 (1998). “But a passing reference to a prohibited topic during direct does not open the door for cross-examination about prior misconduct.” *Id.* Furthermore, the “opening the door” principle only allows a party “to introduce evidence on the same issue to rebut any false impression” created by the other party. *United States v. Sine*, 493 F.3d 1021, 1037 (9th Cir. 2007) (emphasis in original); *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 750, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) (“the State may pursue the subject to clarify a false impression”).

Here, Mr. Loughrey did not open the door to evidence of the 35-year old allegations for which he was never charged. When he said he was not a “child molester,” he was responding to questions specifically regarding N.L., not anything else. In context. Mr. Loughrey’s response that he “was

not a child molester” was relevant only to N.L., not to his sister, Amanda Smith, 35 years earlier.

To the extent Mr. Loughrey’s response can be read to apply to other people, it was a mere passing reference. Mr. Loughrey’s direct testimony is over 100 pages long, and mostly addresses his relationship with N.L. RP 43A at 730-837. He stated that he did not molest or rape N.L. and never would. RP 3A at 763-67. That response was a mere passing reference to his integrity and did not “open the floodgates” to evidence about a 35-year old accusation. See *State v. Avedano-Lopez*, 79 Wn. App. 706, 715, 904 P.2d 324 (1995) (defendant’s “passing reference to his release from jail did not open the floodgates to questions about prior heroin sales”).

Furthermore, even if he was referring to his entire life, the statement was not false. Mr. Loughrey had never been charged with a sex offense related to Ms. Smith. Indeed, at age 46, his offender score was zero. CP 41. His statement did not open the door to inadmissible evidence. See *Sine*, 493 F.3d at 1037 (accurate statement on a particular topic did not open the door to other party’s evidence on the topic); *Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 750 (state may only rebut evidence creating “false impression”).

Washington courts have reversed convictions in several cases in which trial courts improperly ruled defendants opened the door to inadmissible evidence. In *Fitzgerald*, the defendant was charged with two

counts of statutory rape for acts he allegedly committed against two girls from an Indian orphanage. *State v. Fitzgerald*, 39 Wn. App. 652, 654, 694 P.2d 1117 (1085). The defendant testified that he did not sexually abuse any girls from the orphanage and that his relationship with the girls and the orphanage was wholesome and charitable. *Id.* at 661. The trial court ruled that this testimony opened the door to testimony by a third girl that said the defendant had raped her in India. This Court disagreed:

The State's argument that "C"'s testimony is admissible to rebut Fitzgerald's claim that he did not abuse other girls in India is without merit. Evidence of prior misconduct is impermissible for impeachment on a collateral issue.

Id.

In *State v. Stockton*, 91 Wn. App. 35, 955 P.2d 805 (1998), the defendant was charged with unlawful possession of a firearm. The defendant testified that he was attacked by a group of men who had tried to sell him drugs, and he grabbed one of their guns in self-defense. *Id.* at 39. He testified that he "was not interested" in buying drugs. *Id.* The state argued this opened the door to the question, "so you have some knowledge of how to purchase drugs on the street?" *Id.* This court disagreed, stating "Stockton's testimony that he thought the men were trying to sell him drugs was no more than a passing reference to any knowledge he may have had

about drugs.... As such, it did not open the door to testimony about his prior drug use.” *Id.* at 40.

Finally, the Supreme Court rejected the state’s “open door” argument in *Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727. There, the defendant was charged with four counts of child molestation. *Id.* at 733. Both the defendant and his wife testified on his behalf. His wife testified she felt comfortable leaving her two daughters, Ashland and Shelby, in the defendant’s care. *Id.* at 736. The defendant testified that he “never threatened the children or molested” the stepdaughter at issue. *Id.* He did admit that he head-bashed one child and slapped another. *Id.* at 736-37.

The state then cross-examined him with respect to his relationship with Ashland and Shelby, and specifically questioned him regarding a CPS report alleging that the defendant physically abused them. *Id.* at 737. The state argued that the defense had opened the door to the question, and Division Three agreed. But the Supreme Court reversed, holding the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the evidence. *Id.* at 750. The court explained:

[T]he evidence of later physical abuse of related victims is collateral to the issue of whether Fisher sexually molested Melanie. Because the State could not present evidence on a matter collateral to the principal issue being tried, the trial court erred in permitting impeachment on this point. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion by allowing the prosecution to introduce

rebuttal evidence regarding allegation of physical abuse against the stepchildren.

Id. at 751.

As in the foregoing cases, the trial court abused its discretion in ruling Mr. Loughrey opened the door to cross-examination and rebuttal testimony regarding prior alleged acts. Mr. Loughrey's response to his counsel's question was specific to N.L., and, even if it touched on his behavior generally, it was a mere passing reference. Finally, the alleged conduct 35 years earlier was a collateral matter inappropriate for impeachment. In sum, Mr. Loughrey did not open the door to evidence of the 35-year old allegations.

- b. Even if Mr. Loughrey opened the door, the evidence was inadmissible under ER.

Even if a party has opened the door by raising a particular subject, contradictory evidence is still inadmissible if its introduction would violate ER 403. 5 K. Tegland, *Washington Practice, Evidence* § 103.15 at 76, 81 (5th ed. 2007); *Id.* at § 404.31, p. 599; *Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 750. The "opening the door" doctrine must give way to the defendant's right to a fair trial. *State v. Jones*, 144 Wn. App. 284, 298, 183 P.3d 307 (2008). "As with other types of evidence, rebuttal evidence is inadmissible if its prejudicial effect outweighs its probative value." *State v. Ortiz*, 34 Wn. App. 694, 697, 664 P.2d 1267(1983). Furthermore,

A careful and methodical consideration of relevance, and an intelligent weighing of potential prejudice against probative value is particularly important in sex cases, where the prejudice potential of prior acts is at its highest.

Id. (quoting *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 363, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)).

“Doubtful cases should be resolved in favor of the defendant.” *State v. Trickler*, 106 Wn. App. 727, 733, 25 P.3d 445 (2001).

In *Ortiz*, the defendant was charged with aggravated first degree murder for the rape and homicide of a 77-year-old woman. *Id.* at 695. The defense presented “a great deal of testimony concerning the defendant’s mental capacity,” implying that he did not have the ability to think and plan ahead. *Id.* at 695-96. In response, the State presented two rebuttal witnesses, one of whom testified that the defendant had threatened her at knifepoint, and one of whom testified the defendant threatened to rape her. *Id.* at 696. Division I assumed that the defendant opened the door to the evidence, but reversed under ER 403.

Conceding, for the sake of argument, that the challenged evidence rebutted new evidence presented by the defense, we nevertheless conclude that its admission was error. The inflammatory nature of the evidence far outweighed any probative value it might have had. The cumulative effect of the rebuttal testimony was to portray the defendant as a knife-wielding potential rapist, not merely as a person with the ability to think and plan ahead. Because the defendant was charged with raping, beating and stabbing a woman to death, its prejudicial effect was undoubtedly great.

Id. at 697. *See also Stockton*, 91 Wn. App. At 41 (court held the defendant did not open the door to testimony of his prior drug use, and noted also noted that its admission violated ER 403.)

Here the trial court failed to perform an ER 403 analysis once it determined Mr. Loughrey “opened the door.” This was error. The evidence of the prior allegation was substantially more prejudicial than probative. Therefore, the testimony should have been excluded even if Mr. Loughrey “opened the door.” *Ortiz*, 34 Wn. App. At 697. The alleged acts occurred more than 35 years before Mr. Loughrey’s trial on the current charges. *Cf. State v. Acosta*, 123 Wn. App. 424, 98 P.3d 503 (2004) (“Testimony regarding unproved charges and convictions at least 10 years old does not assist the jury in determining any consequential fact in this case”). There are no intervening circumstances, as Mr. Loughrey was not so much as charged with a misdemeanor during the intervening 35 years, let alone charged with or convicted of a felony sex offense. Indeed, his offender score at sentencing was zero.

Finally, the nature of the prior alleged conduct was especially prejudicial, because it was an allegation of sexual misconduct against a child. *See Ortiz* at 697 (rebuttal testimony portraying the defendant as a knife-wielding potential rapist extremely prejudicial); *Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d at 363 (“in sex cases, ... the prejudice potential of prior acts is at its

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