NO. 47339-9-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

DEREK MARK LOUGHREY, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-00504-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK
Prosecuting Attorney
Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
OID No. 91127

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney
1013 Franklin Street
PO Box 5000
Vancouver WA 98666-5000
Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Admitting Evidence Of Loughrey's Prior Acts Against His Sister.

Loughrey claims the trial court erred in admitting evidence of his prior sexual misconduct involving his sister under the “open door” doctrine. The trial court properly found that Loughrey’s loud, emphatic exclamation that he is not a child molester and that he would not do that was evidence of Loughrey’s character that he admitted. The trial court further properly found that the State should be allowed to rebut the evidence Loughrey presented of his good character. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of Loughrey’s prior sexual molestation of his sister after Loughrey admitted evidence of his character. Loughrey’s claim fails.

ER 404(a) prohibits evidence of a person’s character to prove action in conformity therewith. However, if an accused offers evidence of his own character, the prosecution may be allowed to present evidence to rebut it. *State v. Avendano-Lopez*, 79 Wn.App. 706, 715, 904 P.2d 324 (1995); ER 404(a). “The long-standing rule in this state is that a criminal defendant who places his character in issue by testifying as to his own past good behavior, may be cross-examined as to specific acts of misconduct unrelated to the crime charged.” *State v. Brush*, 32 Wn.App. 445, 448, 648

P.2d 897 (1982). This rule gives the trial court discretion to admit evidence that may otherwise be inadmissible if the defendant “opens the door to the evidence.” *State v. Warren*, 134 Wn.App. 44, 65, 138 P.3d 1081 (2006). The determination that the defendant has opened the door to such evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id.* (citing *State v. Bennett*, 42 Wn.App. 125, 127, 708 P.2d 1232 (1985)). An abuse of discretion occurs only when no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. *State v. Atsbeha*, 142 Wn.2d 904, 913-14, 16 P.3d 626 (2001). Therefore, “[t]he trial court has considerable discretion in administering this open-door rule.” *Ang v. Martin*, 118 Wn.App. 553, 562, 76 P.3d 787 (2003).

A party may “open the door” during the questioning of a witness to evidence that may otherwise be inadmissible. *State v. Korum*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 646, 141 P.3d 13 (2006). In *State v. Gefeller*, 76 Wn.2d 449, 458 P.2d 17 (1969), the Supreme Court explained:

It would be a curious rule of evidence which allowed one party to bring up a subject, drop it at a point where it might appear advantageous to him, and then bar the other party from all further inquiries about it. Rules of evidence are designed to aid in establishing the truth. To close the door after receiving only a part of the evidence not only leaves the matter suspended in air at a point markedly advantageous to the party who opened the door, but might well limit the proof to half-truths. Thus, it is a sound general rule that, when a party opens up a subject of inquiry on direct or cross-examination, he contemplates that the

rules will permit cross-examination or redirect examination, as the case may be, within the scope of the examination in which the subject matter was first introduced.

Gefeller, 76 Wn.2d at 455. Under this doctrine, the trial court has the discretion to admit evidence that otherwise would have been inadmissible when a party raises a material issue and the evidence in question bears on that issue. *State v. Berg*, 147 Wn.App. 923, 939, 198 P.3d 529 (2008). “[O]nce a party has raised a material issue, the opposing party is permitted to explain, clarify, or contradict” the evidence regarding that issue. *Id.* at 939.

Further, the open door rule allows a party “to introduce evidence on the same issue to rebut any *false* impression” created by the other party. *U.S. v. Sine*, 493 F.3d 1021, 1037 (9th Cir. 2007) (emphasis original); see also *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 750, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) (stating “[w]here the defendant ‘opened the door’ to a particular subject, the State may pursue the subject to clarify a false impression.”). Loughrey introduced evidence of his own good character, thus creating a false impression, when he emotionally testified that he was not a child molester or a person who would do such a thing. Loughrey clearly opened the door to evidence of his prior acts of molestation.

In *State v. Warren, supra*, the defendant was charged with three counts of raping his fourteen-year-old stepdaughter. *Warren*, 134 Wn.App. at 49. The defendant had previously been convicted of child molestation against his other stepdaughter. *Id.* The defendant testified in his defense that the victim had a skin condition that required applying lotion to her body and at times he helped her apply the lotion. *Id.* at 64. Specifically, the defendant testified:

Now, there is areas I wouldn't do because of, you know, being like she is a girl. But arms and back, those were areas that she couldn't reach that that was all right between me and my wife for her to have those—for me to help her there.”

Id. The trial court ruled that during this testimony the defendant said he was not the type of person who would touch the sexual parts of a girl. *Id.* The trial court therefore found the defendant could be impeached with the fact he had been convicted of child molestation. *Id.* On appeal, the Court of Appeals found that “the only reasonable interpretation of [the defendant]’s testimony was that he was not the type of person who would touch [the victim] sexually.” *Id.* at 65. The appellate court affirmed the trial court’s admission of the defendant’s prior conviction and found this decision was not an abuse of discretion. *Id.*

Here, Loughrey went quite a bit further than the defendant in *Warren, supra* did. He did not simply give the jury the impression he

would never touch a child in the way the victim alleged he did, he raised his voice and emphatically and emotionally stated that he is not a child molester and is not the type of person who would do that kind of thing. This left nothing for interpretation or inference. Loughrey directly and without question admitted evidence of his good character of being a non-child molester and the type of good person who would do no such thing. This created a false impression with the jury. During his lengthy testimony in which Loughrey repeatedly maligned the victim, and attempted to create the impression she was a bad person, he juxtaposed that with loudly and emotionally proclaiming that he is not a bad person (unlike the victim), but is a good person who would never touch a child in a sexual way. This evidence clearly opened the door to rebuttal of his prior acts of doing exactly this sort of thing. Loughrey's testimony created the false impression of his character trait for good sexual morality and the State was properly allowed to introduce evidence to rebut this false impression. The trial court was clearly acting within its vast discretion to admit this type of evidence.

Loughrey further argues that even if he opened the door to the evidence of his prior sexual abuse against his sister, the evidence was too prejudicial to be admitted under ER 403. Loughrey argues the trial court erred by not considering the evidence's potential for prejudice. ER 403

states, “[a]lthough relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice....” ER 403. This rule equally applies to rebuttal evidence which, though relevant, may be inadmissible if its prejudicial effect outweighs its probative value. *State v. Putzell*, 40 Wn.2d 174, 184, 242 P.2d 180 (1952). In considering admissibility of evidence under ER 403, the trial court is not required to conduct its balancing process on the record. *State v. Baldwin*, 109 Wn.App. 516, 528, 37 P.3d 1220, *rev. denied*, 147 Wn.2d 1020, 60 P.3d 92 (2001). Furthermore, the trial court is vested with broad discretion to determine relevance and admission under ER 403. *See State v. Grimes*, 92 Wn.App. 973, 981, 966 P.2d 394 (1998).

In *State v. Scherner*, 153 Wn.App. 621, 225 P.3d 248 (2009), the Court on appeal found the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the probative value of a defendant’s prior victims’ testimony outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice in his child molestation trial. This finding was based on the fact that the testimony of the complaining victim was the only direct evidence of the crime and the trial court gave a limiting instruction to the jury on this evidence. *Scherner*, 153 Wn.App. at 658-59.

In arguing this issue to the trial court, defense counsel specifically referred to the prejudicial nature of this evidence and argued it should not

be admitted under ER 403. The trial court also specifically referred to ER 402 and ER 403 in its discussion of the legal authority it was applying to deciding this issue. RP 788. It is clear from the record the trial court properly considered all legal issues in deciding the admissibility of this evidence. The court's decision was not based on a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law. The evidence of Loughrey's prior sexual abuse of his sister was more probative than prejudicial. Though this evidence is sensitive, its probative value outweighed its potential prejudicial effect.

As in *Scherner, supra*, the evidence of Loughrey's prior abuse of his sister was highly probative, the victim's testimony was the only direct evidence of the crime, and the court gave a limiting instruction to the jury. The danger of unfair prejudice did not "substantially outweigh" the probative value in this case. The trial court did not abuse its discretion and Loughrey's conviction should be affirmed.

II. The Trial Court's Failure to Enter Written Findings Pursuant to CrR 3.5(c) was Harmless.

Loughrey argues the trial court erred in failing to enter written findings pursuant to CrR 3.5 after it held a hearing on the admissibility of Loughrey's statement to police. Loughrey further argues this Court should remand the matter to the trial court for entry of findings and conclusions pursuant to CrR 3.5. Although the trial court did err in failing to enter

written findings and conclusions pursuant to CrR 3.5, its oral findings and conclusions are clear enough to allow review and thus Loughrey has not been prejudiced. Remand is not required to correct this issue.

CrR 3.5 is the procedure by which a trial court determines whether statements of a defendant, offered by the State at trial, are admissible into evidence. CrR 3.5(a). This rule requires that the trial court, “set forth in writing: (1) the undisputed facts; (2) the disputed facts; (3) conclusions as to the disputed facts; and (4) conclusion as to whether the statement is admissible and the reasons therefor.” CrR 3.5(c). The trial court did hold a hearing pursuant to CrR 3.5 prior to Loughrey’s trial, however the trial court did not enter any written findings pursuant to CrR 3.5(c). The trial court instead, gave an oral ruling finding the statement Loughrey made to law enforcement officers admissible. RP 316-17.

The trial court made the following findings and conclusions, orally, regarding the CrR 3.5 hearing:

Okay. Then the statement will be admissible. It was non-custodial, didn’t require *Miranda* rights, nothing to indicate that it was involuntary.

RP 316-17.

Although a trial court’s failure to enter written findings and conclusions pursuant to CrR 3.5(c) is error, it is harmless error as long as the oral findings are sufficient to allow appellate review. *State v.*

Thompson, 73 Wn.App. 122, 130, 867 P.2d 691 (1994) (citing to *State v. Riley*, 69 Wn.App. 349, 352-53, 848 P.2d 1288 (1993) and *State v. Clark*, 46 Wn.App. 856, 859, 732 P.2d 1029, *rev. denied*, 108 Wn.2d 1014 (1987)). In *State v. Haynes*, 16 Wn.App. 778, 559 P.2d 583, *rev. denied*, 88 Wn.2d 1017 (1977) this Court found that the trial court’s failure to enter written findings and conclusions on the CrR 3.5 hearing was not reversible absent prejudice to the defendant. *Haynes*, 16 Wn.App. at 788. This Court reasoned that the trial court gave “adequate oral reasoning in ruling that the statements, if indeed made, were voluntary” and the absence of written findings “did not hinder [its] review....” *Id.* Many courts have since upheld this reasoning. *See e.g. State v. Grogan*, 147 Wn.App. 511, 195 P.3d 1017, *rev. granted, cause remanded*, 168 Wn.2d 1039, 234 P.3d 169, *on remand*, 158 Wn.App. 272, 246 P.3d 196 (2008) (holding a trial court’s failure to enter findings required is harmless error if the court’s oral findings are sufficient to permit appellate review); *State v. Miller*, 92 Wn.App. 693, 703, 964 P.2d 1196 (1998) (holding a trial court’s failure to comply with CrR 3.5(c) is harmless error if the court’s oral findings are sufficient to allow appellate review); *State v. Phillip Arthur Smith*, 67 Wn.App. 81, 834 P.2d 26, *reviewed and affirmed on other grounds*, 123 Wn.2d 51, 864 P.2d 1371 (1992) (holding a trial court’s failure to enter written findings following the denial of a motion to

suppress was harmless error where the court's oral findings were sufficient to permit appellate review).

Loughrey cites to *State v. Head*, 136 Wn.2d 619, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998) to support his argument. In *Head*, the Court did not address the trial court's failure to enter written findings after a CrR 3.5 hearing, but rather addressed the failure of the trial court to enter written findings after a bench trial pursuant to CrR 6.1(d). *Head*, 136 Wn.2d at 621. This case is not instructive on the issue of whether a trial court's failure to enter written findings after a CrR 3.5 hearing requires reversal or remand. Loughrey also cites to *State v. Kevin C. Smith*, 68 Wn.App. 201, 842 P.2d 494 (1992) to support his contention that any failure to enter findings after a CrR 3.5 hearing requires automatic remand. However, the *Kevin C. Smith* case discussed the entry of findings after a CrR 3.6 motion to suppress evidence hearing, not a CrR 3.5 hearing. *Kevin C. Smith*, 68 Wn.App. at 205. Even though this case discusses a different type of hearing, it affirms the precedent that written findings may not be necessary if the court's oral findings allow for appellate review. The Court in *Kevin C. Smith*, found the trial court's oral ruling on the CrR 3.6 hearing was not "clear and comprehensive...so that the appellate court [was] left with no doubt as to the court's findings," and later referred to the trial court's "lack of clarity" in its ruling. *Id.* at 206-07. The Court there found review of the

trial court's CrR 3.6 findings to be impossible because it was unable to determine what the trial court's theory was or even what facts the trial court deemed to be established by the testimony. *Id.* at 207. The Court concluded that a lack of written findings is not harmless "unless the oral opinion is so clear and comprehensive that written findings would be a mere formality." *Id.* at 208. This case is distinguishable from the situation below, and does not advance Loughrey's argument. The CrR 3.5 hearing below was short, offered no disputed testimony, and no legal argument from defense. The trial court's findings were "clear and comprehensive," given the factual situation involved and that the State intended only to offer one statement Loughrey made that was not in response to any questions from police, but rather was a spontaneous statement made after police told him his daughter was with police. The findings clearly allow for appellate review, and Loughrey does not suggest otherwise.

Loughrey cites to no case that supports his contention that the failure of a trial court to enter written findings after a CrR 3.5 hearing requires automatic remand for entry of written findings. In fact, the case law in existence on this subject clearly holds that such error is harmless if the trial court's oral findings are sufficient to allow appellate review. Loughrey never suggests the trial court's findings are insufficient or unclear. A simple reading of the transcript shows this issue was simple

and clear and the court's findings appropriate. If Loughrey wanted appellate review of the admissibility of his statement to police, the record is sufficiently clear to allow such review. The trial court's erroneous failure to enter written findings is harmless; Loughrey has not been prejudiced. This Court should deny Loughrey's claim that remand is necessary.

CONCLUSION